PETITION FOR REVIEW 

To the Honorable Chief Justice and Associate Justices of 

the Supreme Court of the State of Califol'nia: 

Petitioner/Applicant, MICHAEL AYALA, hereby files this 

Petition for Review, to inquire into and determine the lawfulness 

of the Court of Appeals Fourth District, Division 2 Opinion filed 

on August 14, 2023. 

Petitioner refers to, and incorporates as if fully set forth 

herein, the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities that 

supports granting review on the grounds that review is necessary 

to secure uniformity of decision and to settle an important 

question of law: Does Industrial Disability Leave ("IDL") fall

INTRODUCTION 

Respondent/Applicant, MICHAEL AYALA, while employed 

on August 12, 2002, as a Correctional Officer, with 

Petitioner/Defendant, California Department of Corrections & 

Rehabilitation, sustained injury as a result of an assault by 

prison inmates. This assault was only allowed to happen as a 

result of the serious and willful misconduct of the employer, for 

which the WCAB issued an Opinion and Decision After 

Reconsideration dated April 27, 2020, awarding Respondent 

increased benefits pursuant to Labor Code section 4553 1, 

which provides in pertinent part that the "amount of 

compensation otherwise recoverable shall be increased one-

half .... " 

As a result of the inmate assault, Applicant was paid 

Enhanced Industrial Disability Leave (E-IDL) in lieu of 

Temporary Disability benefits (TD). E-IDL is equivalent to the 

injured employee's net take home salary on the date of occurrence 

of injury; whereas, TD is payable at 2/3 salary with a statutory 

cap based on date of injury. See Gov. Code section 19871.2 

and Labor Code section 4653, respectively. The difference in 

value for the relevant TD period is significant when comparing 

the two benefits, particularly in light of the statutory cap 

outlined in Labor Code section 4453. This statutory cap 

1 All further statutory references are to the Cal Labor Code, 
unless otherwise specified. 
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essentially reduces high-wage earner's TD benefits below a 2/3 

benefit (e.g. at the statutory cap of $490/wk for a date of injury in 

2002, any wage earner making above $735/wk will end up with 

less than 2/3 wages). Whereas, E-IDL remains at the injured 

worker's net take home salary. 

II. 

QUESTION PRESENTED 

Was it proper for the Ayala court to limit the calculation of 

benefits under section 4553 to benefits strictly within Division 4 

when both statutory and case law deems certain benefits payable 

outside of Division 4 as compensation within Division 4? 

III. 

DISCUSSION 

The Fourth District's opinion in the present case stands in 

direct conflict with Brooks v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd., 

161 Cal. App. 4th 1522, 75 Cal. Rptr. 3d 277 (5th Dist. 2008) and 

Cal. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ellison), 44 Cal. App. 

4th 128, 51 Cal. Rptr. 2d 606 (4th Dist. 1996). It determined that 

"compensation" pursuant to section 3207 does not include 

Industrial Disability Leave ("IDL") since IDL, and its corollary 

Enhanced IDL ("E-IDL"), are neither "under" nor "conferred by" 

Division 4 of the Labor Code as specified in section 3207. 

A. Aggregate Disability Benefits are a form of 

"compensation." 

"Compensation" is defined under section 3207 as follows: 

"Compensation" means compensation under this division and 

includes every benefit or payment conferred by this division upon 

6 
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an injured employee, or in the event of his or her death, upon his 

or her dependents, without regard to negligence." "This division'' 

refers to Division 4 of the Labor Code. Within Division 4 lies 

section 4650, which controls the timing and nature of payments 

made in workers' compensation claims. This section includes the 

payment of Temporary Disability ("TD") benefits. Section 4656 

then provides for the maximum period of TD benefits, setting 

forth the payment of "aggregate disability benefits." 

Unequivocally, TD benefits are a Division 4 benefit. Therefore, 

TD benefits fit squarely within the definition of "compensation" 

under section 3207. 

B. Legislative intent makes clear that IDL "means 

temporary disability as defined in Division 4." 

Government Code section 19870 states in relevant part: 

(a) "Industrial disability leave" means temporary 
disability as defined in Divisions 4 (commencing with 
Section 3201) and 4.5 (commencing with Section 6100) 
of the Labor Code and includes any period in which the 
disability is permanent and stationary and the disabled 
employee is undergoing vocational rehabilitation. 

(b) "Full pay" means the gross base salary 
earnable by the employee and subject to retirement 
contribution if he had not vacated his position. 
(emphasis added.) 

Government Code section 19871 then lays out how the 

standard IDL benefit is paid: "full pay ... not to exceed 22 

working days of disability .... Thereafter, the payment shall be 

two-thirds of full pay." 

7 
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Government Code section 19871.2 further lays out how the 

Enhanced IDL benefit is paid: 

When an excluded employee is temporarily 
disabled for more than 22 consecutive working days 
by an injury or type of injury designated by the 
director as qualifying an employee for the benefits of 
this section, he or she shall receive an enhanced 
industrial disability leave benefit. The enhanced 
benefit shall be equivalent to the injured employee's 
net take home salary on the date of occurrence of 
lnJury. 

Government Code section 19872(a) also clarifies: "(t)he 

disabled employee shall not receive temporary disability 

indemnity or sick leave or annual leave with pay for any period 

for which he or she receives industrial disability leave." 

This clearly declares the Legislature's intent to view IDL 

and TD as interchangeable within Division 4. It is no mere 

coincidence that the Legislature tracked section 3207's definition 

of compensation. Ayala's reasoning to the contrary is 

unpersuasive. 

C. The Ayala decision creates direct conflict with 

Brooks due to Brooks finding that IDL counts towards 

aggregate disability payments. 

Brooks v. WCAB, supra. at 1532, expressly finds "the 

statutory scheme is clear," and that "[b]ecause IDL is statutorily 

defined as the equivalent of TD, then the two-year limitation 

under section 4656, subdivision (c)(l), necessarily must apply to 

both IDL and TD." Inherent within this reasoning is the reality 

that Division 4 contemplates benefits outside of its Division. 

Coupled with the Legislature's declaration that IDL means TD, 

8 
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the strict definition of "compensation" is not as easily defined as 

the Ayala decision indicates. However, if it is "equally 

unambiguous ... that industrial disability benefits are not 

'compensationm (see Ayala opinion p. 6), then IDL cannot 

logically be included within the meaning of "aggregate disability 

benefits" as Brooks has declared. 

This conflict cannot be understated. At risk is an entire 

body of case law, wherein it is clearly established that benefits 

provided beyond Division 4 are deemed as "compensation" within 

Division 4. "Salary continuation plans," as defined in section 

4650(g), have long been held to be "compensation" within 

Division 4 despite not being "under" or "conferred by" Division 4. 

See: Herrera v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd., 71 Cal. 2d 254, 

455 P.2d 425, 78 Cal. Rptr. 497 (1969) (citing Stan v. Cal. Golf 

Club & Associated Indem. Corp., 8 Cal. Comp. Cases 209, 

1943 Cal. Wrk. Comp. LEXIS 196 (Cal. Workers' Comp. App. Bd. 

1943) ("We should not now, without anything in evidence to 

indicate that the payment of wages was intended as a gift or 

gratuity, contend that such payment was not compensation and 

that the employer or his representative is entitled to no credit 

therefor."). Similarly, Education Code section 44043 provides an 

analogous benefit to IDL, and case law supports the payment of 

those benefits as a form of compensation within Division 4. See: 

Mt. Diablo Unified Sch. Dist. v. Workers' Compensation 

Appeals Bd. (Rollick), 165 Cal. App. 4th 1154, 81 Cal. Rptr. 3d 

597 (1st Dist. 2008). 

9 
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If the rationale of Ayala is to be followed, then the 

aforementioned benefits cannot be deemed compensation under 

Division 4. This necessarily creates the possibility of a double 

recovery that the courts saw fit to avoid. It further raises the 

implication that if those benefits are not compensation, then no 

benefits have been paid under Division 4, leaving the opportunity 

for employees to claim benefits beyond the limitations specified in 

section 4656. This, in turn, leads to challenges of the right to 

credit employers routinely seek under section 4909. 

Either Brooks, Herrera, and Rollick were properly 

decided, or Ayala has been properly decided. They cannot 

coexist. There is no reasonable reconciliation to produce 

anything short of an absurd result. 

D. The Ayala decision draws inappropriate reference 

to, and reliance on, Ellison, and no easy comparison can 

be drawn between the two. 

State of California v. WCAB (Ellison), supra. stands for 

the proposition that a delay in payment of IDL benefits permits 

an award of penalties under section 5814. This recognizes the 

simple fact that no benefits were actually paid during a period 

when TD benefits were owed pursuant to section 4650. Ellison 

is premised on a failure to pay TD, while recognizing that the 

employer could satisfy its obligation to pay TD benefits by 

properly paying IDL benefits in lieu of the TD benefits. Ellison 

recognizes the statutory structure of the timing of payment of 

benefits under section 4650, wherein obligation to pay TD 

benefits is tolled by the payment of benefits via a salary 
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continuation plan, like IDL-the point being that a failure to pay 

anything will necessarily result in a penalty. 

Comparing Ayala, this is not a case of a failure to pay 

benefits. Rather, it is a case where benefits were in fact paid, but 

that were paid outside of Division 4. This necessarily 

contemplates the fact that no "compensation" was actually paid, 

since IDL is "unambiguously" not compensation according to 

Ayala. This leaves the Parties, and the WCAB, in the precarious 

position to eliminate consideration of TD benefits altogether in 

the calculation of section 4553 benefits. Recall that section 4553 

is an increase in compensation actually received. The problem is 

that no TD benefits were awarded, or paid, while Petitioner 

received E-IDL. The Ayala decision is silent on this conundrum 

and opens the door to an argument that since salary continuation 

plans are not compensation, then there is nothing to base an 

award for increased benefits under Ayala's strict interpretation 

of section 3207. This, in turn, allows employers, who have 

engaged in quasi-criminal behavior, to potentially escape liability 

for an increase in those benefits that would otherwise be credited 

within the workers' compensation system. This duality cannot be 

permitted to exist, and it accentuates the point that Ayala does 

not bring harmony, but discord. 

11 
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E. Ayala challenges the foundation created by 

previous cases that have adopted an expansive meaning 

doctrine when calculating the award for increased 

compensation under section 4553. 

There appears to be only a handful of occasions where the 

courts saw fit to analyze the nature and extent of benefits that 

can be awarded under section 4553. The most relevant cases are: 

(1) the Court's opinion in Mercer-Fraser Co. v. Industrial 

Acci. Com., 40 Cal. 2d 102, 251 P.2d 955, (H}53); (2) the Court's 

opinion in State Dep 't of Corrections v. Workers' Comp. 

Appeals Bd. (Jensen), 5 Cal. 3d 885, 489 P.2d 818, 97 Cal. Rptr. 

786 (1971), and (3) Ferguson v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd., 

33 Cal. App. 4th 1613, 39 Cal. Rptr. 2d 806 (1st Dist. 1995). 

However, these cases have not contemplated whether benefits 

payable outside of Division 4 that are deemed compensation 

within Division 4 can be included within the calculation for 

increased benefits under section 4553. Each case, though, takes 

care to point out the clear purpose of section 4553: "It is manifest 

from the analysis in Horst that section 4553 of the Labor Code is 

designed to provide more nearly full compensation to an injured 

employee rather than to penalize an employer." Jensen, 5 Cal. 3d 

at 889 (relying upon E. Clemens Horst Co. v. Industrial Acci. 

Com., 184 Cal. 180, 193 P. 105, (1920)). 

When analyzing the historical progression of these cases, it 

becomes equally clear that courts have approached section 4553 

with an expansive view. Ferguson appears to take the most 

recent step forward in the inclusion of the types of benefits that 

12 
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can be included. Importantly, while drawing reference to section 

3207, Ferguson approached the term "compensation'' as follows: 

"[fJrom the time our workers' compensation scheme was initially 

established, this critical term has consistently been given an 

expansive meaning, described as including 'every benefit or 

payment' conferred upon employees." Ferguson, 33 Cal.App.4th 

at 1619. It further noted, "the legislative history of section 4553 

and related provisions of section 132a is also consistent with an 

expansive interpretation of the former statute." Id. at 1620. 

Consequently, so long as an award for increased 

compensation under section 4553 calculated on the 

basis of all compensation received by the injured 

worker, including indemnity as well as nonindemnity 

benefits, does not provide the injured worker more 

than is necessary to fully compensate the worker for 

all damages he or she sustained as a result of the 

injury caused, at least in part, by the willful 

misconduct of the employer, the award does not 

constitute punitive damages and is therefore not 

constitutionally excessive. Id. at 1624 (emphasis in 

original). 

With the backdrop of giving "compensation" an expansive 

meaning, the Ayala decision sits in contrast with its narrow and 

limiting perspective. It is difficult to resolve the apparent conflict 

between the expansive nature to award benefits under section 

4553 when faced with the Ayala decision that seeks to limit the 

award of those very benefits. The contradiction that exists is 

13 
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rather startling when the case is put into the proper context that 

this case is staged in the se:rious and willful arena. While 

employers are permitted to seek credit against their obligations 

to provide benefits in the workers' compensation system when 

they provide benefits. outside that system, Ayala permits 

employers to benefit from a reduced award despite their quasi­

criminal behavior. Again, if IDL is not "compensation," then 

there is no benefit to increase for purposes of section 4553. The 

next logical step is the step that Ayala did not take, which is to 

contemplate the significance of an award for increased benefits 

under section 4553 and then to recognize the fact that benefits 

outside of Division 4 are nonetheless considered as compensation 

within Division 4. This, in turn, requires consideration of those 

very benefits in the calculation of compensation under section 

4553. Simply put, if the employer gets to take credit, then the 

employer is liable for the same value actually provided. This 

remedy will ensure an award closer to "full and complete 

compensation." Id. at 1625. 

F. Reconciliation is possible when considering the 

general nature of section 3207 versus the specific award of 

benefits for serious and willful misconduct under section 

4553. 

Harmony exists with the fundamental understanding that 

since the creation of the workers' compensation system, Division 

4 has always considered, and given credit for, benefits payable 

outside of its Division against the benefits that can be awarded 

within its Division. There is no need to disturb any case law or to 

14 
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befuddle the Legislature's declaration that "IDL means TD as 

defined within Division 4"-as if this declaration alone were not 

sufficient to render a decision that IDL is necessarily included in 

the calculation of section 4553 benefits. This is precisely as the 

Brooks court has done for purposes of the payment of TD 

benefits, and just as the Ellison court has done in contemplation 

of a penalty. 

The issue is resolved when the cases are put in the proper 

context. Both Brooks and Ellison properly fall within the 

standard realm where compensation is defined "without regard to 

negligence." The general nature of section 3207 gives proper 

context to the general applicability of both Brooks and Ellison 

in cases that do not rise to the level of the more specific allegation 

of serious and willful misconduct as contemplated within section 

4553. 

When reviewing the penalty provisions under section 5814, 

there is mere reference to "compensation," as opposed to 

reference within section 4553 to "compensation otherwise 

recoverable." It becomes clear that an award of penalties for an 

unreasonable delay of either IDL or TD does not require a finding 

of serious and willful misconduct. Essentially, section 5814 is 

limited to those benefits within Division 4 by that statute merely 

stating "compensation." This is precisely why Ellison did not 

award penalties on the value of IDL, since IDL is technically a 

benefit that falls outside of Division 4. The point being that 

Ellison had no cause to go beyond the statutory definition of 

"compensation". It never even considered the significance of the 

15 
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added language in section 4553 of "compensation otherwise 

recoverable" since that language does not exist for a 5814 penalty 

on a standard case that exists without regard to negligence. As 

Ellison did not deal with a case involving serious and willful 

misconduct, its precedential value is limited to the very clear 

proposition that IDL is in fact contemplated within Division 4 for 

the purposes of furnishing benefits. This basic principle is 

similarly memorialized in Brooks when it found that furnishing 

IDL acts as a credit against an injured worker's entitlement to 

benefits under Division 4. These cases simply act as the 

foundation to show the inherent interaction between IDL and TD. 

This allows the analysis to then shift to section 4553, keeping in 

mind the liberal construction mandate under section 3202. 

Section 4553 includes the additional language "otherwise 

recoverable," giving the opportunity to recognize the special 

nature and applicability of its provisions that are clearly 

intended to go beyond the standard realm of a no-fault system. 

Had the Legislature so intended, there would be no need to 

include the phrase "otherwise recoverable". Mere reference to 

"compensation" would be sufficient to make it clear that section 

4553 is limited by the definition found in section 3207. However, 

the Legislature did not so state. The Legislature included the 

phrase "otherwise recoverable," which is clearly meant to 

augment the term "compensation." Those words must be given 

meaning. When considering the statutory scheme and the strong 

public policy to award increased compensation when an injury 

arises above the standard no-fault system, it cannot be said the 

16 
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WCAB's opinion is clearly erroneous as the Ayala court has 

declared. 

Giving specific meaning to the unique terms in section 4553 

allows reconciliation with existing case law. In the unique 

circumstances of cases involving serious and willful misconduct, a 

unique award of benefits shall likewise be granted. The very 

generality of section 3207 and its recognition that it applies in 

circumstances "without regard to negligence," allows it to be set 

aside for the more specific provisions found within section 4553 

that allow consideration of compensation that is otherwise 

recoverable. Under this setting, Ayala was decided incorrectly. 

VI. 

CONCLUSION 

In the setting of a quasi-criminal action of the employer 

that caused injury to the employee, Ayala reduces employer 

liability for the one-half increase in compensation otherwise 

recoverable under section 4553. The underlying intent of section 

4553 is to increase standard compensation to come closer to full 

compensation that could be awarded in a tort action. It balances 

this increase in benefits within the constitutional confines 

wherein the reduced workers' compensation benefits are the 

exclusive remedy for an injured worker, understanding the 

standard tort-like damages are unavailable. By creating that 

one-half increase, the Legislature accomplished this feat. The 

question becomes whether the uniqueness of section 4553 should 

be limited by the general definition found in section 3207. The 
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answer is undoubtedly that it should not, particularly in light of 

the added phrase "otheI"wise recoverable." Anything less will 

result in a major disruption to the workers' compensation system 

as a whole. 

WHEREFORE, Petitioner/Applicant, Michael Ayala,