Case No. S282013  
Civil Case No. E079076

**In The Supreme Court  
State of California**

---

THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION APPEALS BOARD OF THE  
STATE OF CALIFORNIA and MICHAEL AYALA,  
Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF CALIFORNIA, DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS  
AND REHABILITATION, Legally Uninsured, and STATE  
COMPENSATION INSURANCE FUND, Adjusting Agency,  
Respondents.

---

WCAB Case No. ADJ71360597  
Civil Case No. E079076  
Hon. Michael J. Raphael;  
In The Court of Appeal of the State of California  
Fourth Appellate District Division Two

---

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

MARK BEATTY, Deputy Chief Counsel  
MARY R. HUCKABAA, Assistant Chief Counsel

## **INTRODUCTION**

The decision of the Court of Appeal in this workers' compensation case is consistent with California statutes and case law precedent. Thus, petitioners' stated ground for review under Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(b)(1) does not apply here because there is no conflict in the decisional law of the state as to the single legal issue decided, namely: whether "serious and willful" benefits under Labor Code Section 4553 should be based on temporary disability (TD) *or* industrial disability benefits (IDL). Further, the issue was correctly decided in a well-reasoned opinion issued by Division 2 of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

Accordingly, Respondent respectfully submits that there are no grounds for review by this Honorable Court in this petition for review, and that the sound decision of the Court of Appeal should not be disturbed.

## **BACKGROUND**

This workers' compensation matter arises from a prison riot twenty years ago, during which applicant Michael Ayala, a correctional officer, was injured. (Opn., p. 468, *Dept. of Corrections and Rehabilitation v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ayala)* (2023) 94 Cal. App. 5th 464, 468-469. The Workers' Compensation Appeals Board ("WCAB" or "the Board") found that Mr. Ayala's injuries were caused as a result of "serious

and willful misconduct” on behalf of the Respondent because Respondent had knowledge that a riot was being planned by inmates. *Id.* at 469.

Petitioner then argued that the “serious and willful misconduct” benefits should be calculated based on the IDL amount, and not the TD amount. The workers’ compensation judge held that TD should be the basis of benefits awarded under Labor Code Section 4553. (Ayala Opn., p. 469). Petitioner filed a petition for reconsideration with the WCAB, and the Board reversed, holding that IDL should be the measure of Section 4553 benefits. *Id.* at 469.

The Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation filed a petition for writ of review, and Division Two of the Fourth District Court of Appeal annulled the Board’s decision after reconsideration, holding that IDL is not “compensation” under Division 4 of the Labor Code, and that TD is the proper basis for a “serious and willful misconduct” award under Section 4553. The Court issued a published opinion, reported at *Dept. of Corrections and Rehabilitation v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ayala)* (2023) 94 Cal. App. 5th 464.

**THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL IS  
CONSISTENT WITH CALIFORNIA STATUTES AND  
CASE LAW PRECEDENT.**

The California Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that the WCAB “is a tribunal of limited jurisdiction, with no

powers beyond those conferred upon it by section 21 of article XX of the state Constitution and the provisions of the Workmen's Compensation, Insurance and Safety Act, now codified in the Labor Code (§3201 et seq.) *State Comp. Ins. Fund v. Industrial Accident commission (Hansen)* (1942) 20 Cal. 2d 264, 266. See also *Horst v. Industrial Accident Commission* (1920) 184 Cal. 180, 192.

In this case, the Court of Appeal followed the plain meaning of Labor Code Sections 4553 and 3207. The Court concluded that IDL is not “compensation otherwise recoverable” within the meaning of Section 4553, because IDL is not conferred by Division 4 of the Labor Code, as required by Section 3207. *Dept. of Corrections and Rehabilitation v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ayala)* (2023) 94 Cal. App. 5th 464, 470-471. The Court provided a detailed analysis of the statutory scheme in arriving at its holding. *Id.* at 470-471.

Labor Code Section 4553 provides, in relevant part:

***The amount of compensation otherwise recoverable*** shall be *increased one-half, together* with costs and expenses not to exceed two hundred fifty dollars (\$250), where the employee is injured by reason of the serious and willful misconduct of any of the following:

(a) The employer, or his managing representative ...

Section 4553 (Emphasis Added.)

Labor Code Section 3207 defines the term “compensation” as follows:

“Compensation” means ***compensation under this division*** [i.e. Division 4, “Workers Compensation Insurance”] and includes every benefit or payment ***conferred by this division*** upon an injured employee, or in the event of his or her death, upon his or her dependents, without regard to negligence.

Section 3207 (Emphasis Added.)

“Section 4553 cannot be read without reference to section 3207, which defines ‘compensation.’” *Ferguson v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1995) 33 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 1613, 1619. In *Ferguson*, the Court of Appeal held that the 50% increase of “compensation otherwise recoverable” for serious and willful misconduct must be based on the entire compensation award as defined in Section 3207 based on all Division 4 categories of “compensation,” provided that the total amount does not exceed the amount necessary to fully compensate the worker. *Id.* at 1616. The Court held that “compensation” included indemnity and non-indemnity compensation (such as medical benefits). *Ferguson*, 33 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1613, 1616. See also *Adams v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1976) 18 Cal. 3d 226, 231 [medical-legal fees are

“compensation” for purposes of calculating Labor Code Sec. 5814 penalties.]

The Court of Appeal has also held that Labor Code Section 5814 penalties for unreasonable delay or refusal to pay benefits cannot be based on IDL benefits because IDL benefits are not “compensation” and are not conferred by the Labor Code. *Cal. v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ellison)* (1996) 44 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 128, 136-138. “While the WCAB does not have jurisdiction to award IDL, since jurisdiction to make such an award lies with the state’s Department of Personnel Administration (“DPA”), it does have jurisdiction to award a penalty based on the lesser amount of TD (§ 3201-6002, 6100-6149) that would be due ...” *Ellison*, 44 Cal. App.4<sup>th</sup> at 130-131 (citing and affirming the WCAB’s decision.)

Contrary to Petitioner’s argument, there is no inconsistency or conflict between the Court’s decision in this case and the decision in *Brooks v. Workers’ Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2008) 161 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1522. *Brooks* did not involve “serious and willful misconduct” benefits under Labor Code Section 4553. The Court in *Brooks* addressed whether certain class of state employees may get two years of TD benefits in addition to IDL benefits, under Labor Code Section 4656(c)(1). The Court held that the maximum



amount of TD benefits was two years and that the IDL period was subsumed in, and not in addition to, the maximum two-year period. *Brooks*, 161 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> at 1526-1527

Accordingly, the decision of the Court of Appeal in this case is not in conflict with *Brooks* or any other case law precedent.

### **IDL v. TD**

Industrial Disability Benefits (“IDL”) and Enhanced Industrial Disability Leave (“EIDL”) benefits are **not conferred by the Labor Code**; they are conferred by the Government Code. See Gov. Code Secs. 19870 et seq. Labor Code Sections 4800 et seq., which provide enhanced payments in lieu of temporary disability for specified law enforcement officers (such as local police and California Highway Patrol officers), do not expressly include correctional officers, such as Respondent here, among the officers specified in the Labor Code. See Labor Code Secs. 4800 – 4850.

Nor is there anything in Labor Code Section 4553, or elsewhere in the Labor Code, that includes EIDL benefits within the definition of the term “compensation” for purposes of the Labor Code.

Government Code Sec. 19871 provides that except in certain situations not applicable here:

... when a state officer or employee is temporarily disabled by illness or injury arising out of and in the course of state employment, he or she shall become entitled, regardless of his or her period of service, to receive industrial disability leave and payments for a period *not exceeding 52 weeks* within two years from the first day of disability. These payments *shall be in the amount of the employees (sic.) full pay less withholding* based on his or her exemptions in effect on the date of his or her disability for federal income taxes, state income taxes, and social security taxes not to exceed 2 working days of disability subject to Section 19875. *Thereafter, the payment shall be two-thirds of full pay. ...*”

Gov. Code Sec. 19871 (Emphasis Added.)

Thus, the amount of EIDL benefits is the amount of the applicant’s net salary after taxes for the statutory period, and two-thirds of full pay thereafter.

By contrast, temporary disability (TD) is two-thirds of applicant’s average weekly earnings subject to maximum TD limits. Labor Code Secs. 4653-4654 and 4553. When the temporary disability is partial (rather than total), and the applicant is able to work a compatible job and/or fewer hours, TD is calculated based on a wage-loss basis, compared to applicant’s regular salary. Secs. 4654 and 4553.

**SINCE IDL IS NOT CONFERRED BY DIVISION 4 OF THE LABOR CODE, IDL CANNOT BE THE BASIS OF AN AWARD UNDER SECTION 4553.**

IDL is a statutorily created alternative to temporary disability indemnity for a select group of state employees pursuant to Government Code Sections 19869 – 19877.1. To qualify for IDL benefits, an employee must be eligible for workers' compensation benefits and be an active member of the California Public Employees' Retirement System (CalPERS) or the California State Teachers' Retirement System (CALTRS).

Nothing in the Labor Code adopts these benefits as a category of "compensation" that the WCAB is permitted to award. Rather, a qualifying employee's first level of administrative remedy for claims involving IDL benefits lies with the employing State Department (or agency). Thereafter, complaints involving IDL or other benefits involving leave administration under the Government Code, must be appealed to the Department of Personnel Administration ("DPA"). *Brooks v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (2008) 161 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 1522, 1529. (Citing to Cal. Code Regs., tit. 2, §599.768.) See also *Cal. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ellison)* (1996) 44 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 128, 136-138.

Thus, the WCAB has no jurisdiction to award IDL benefits. See *Cal. v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd. (Ellison)* (1996) 44 Cal. App. 4<sup>th</sup> 128, 136-138. This proposition is black letter law, and was conceded by the Board in this case.

Indeed, the Board has previously held in other panel decisions that it does not have the power to award IDL benefits. See e.g. *Blankenship v. Workers' Comp. Appeals Bd.* (1986) 51 Cal. Comp. Cases 38, 39.

### CONCLUSION

In sum, the Court of Appeal decided the single question of law in this case, consistent with existing appellate decisions. There is simply no conflict in the decisional law of this state, so as to warrant Supreme Court review. As such, the requisite grounds for review by the Supreme Court are missing in this case.

Accordingly, Respondent respectfully requests this Honorable Court to deny Mr. Ayala's petition for review.